IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC08-1529 LT Case Nos. 2008-CA-1905, 1D08-3934

ANDY FORD, et al.

Petitioners,

v.

KURT S. BROWNING,

Respondent.

On Review from the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit in and for Leon County

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

RONALD G. MEYER Florida Bar No. 0148248 JENNIFER S. BLOHM Florida Bar No. 01062 Meyer and Brooks, P.A. 2544 Blairstone Pines Dr. Post Office Box 1547 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (850) 878-5212

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. The Florida Taxation and Budget Reform Commission ("TBRC" or "Commission") is a constitutionally established entity that is required to convene every twenty years for the purpose of "examin[ing] the state budgetary process, the revenue needs and expenditure processes of the state, the appropriateness of the tax structure of the state, and governmental productivity and efficiency." Art. XI, § 6(d), Fla. Const. The Constitution authorizes the TBRC, *inter alia*, to transmit to the Defendant Secretary of State for placement on a general election ballot proposals for "a revision of this constitution or any part of it dealing with taxation or the state budgetary process." Art. XI, § 6(e), Fla. Const.

The TBRC convened for its 2007-2008 session on March 16, 2007, and, after thirteen months of deliberation, ultimately adopted seven proposals for amending the constitution, which it transmitted to the Secretary of State for placement on the ballot for the November 2008 general election. Five of these proposals clearly deal with "taxation or the state budgetary process," and are not in dispute here. The other two proposals – which have been designated by the Secretary of State as Ballot Initiatives Nos. 7 and 9 – are the subject of this litigation.

The apparent purpose of these two Ballot Initiatives – which address respectively issues of separation of church and state (Ballot Initiative No. 7), and

the means by which the state provides for the education of Florida's children and how local school districts expend their funds (Ballot Initiative No. 9) – is to overrule the decision of the First District Court of Appeal that struck down Florida's Opportunity Scholarship Program ("OSP") as contrary to the religious freedom provisions of Article I, section 3, *Bush v. Holmes*, 886 So. 2d 340, 359 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004), and this Court's decision affirming that holding on the basis of the public education provisions of Article IX, section 1. *Bush v. Holmes*, 919 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 2006).¹

1. Ballot Initiative No. 7 would amend Article I, section 3, which is the section of Florida's Declaration of Rights that addresses religious freedom and the separation of church and state. Section 3 currently provides as follows:

There shall be no law respecting the establishment of religion or prohibiting or penalizing the free exercise thereof. Religious freedom shall not justify practices inconsistent with public morals, peace or safety. No revenue of the state or any political subdivision or agency thereof shall ever be taken from the public treasury directly or indirectly in aid of any church, sect, or religious denomination or in aid of any sectarian institution.

Art. I, § 3, Fla. Const.

¹ In affirming the decision of the First District Court of Appeal on other grounds, this Court left undisturbed the lower court's holding with respect to Article I, section 3, stating that it "neither approve[d] nor disapprove[d] the First District's determination that the OSP violates the 'no aid' provision in Article I, section 3 of the Florida Constitution, an issue we decline to reach." 919 So. 2d at 413.

The final sentence of this section – known as the "no aid" clause – promotes religious liberty and freedom of conscience by prohibiting the use of public funds "'directly or indirectly in aid of' not only churches, religions, and sects, but any sectarian institution." *Bush v. Holmes*, 886 So. 2d at 359. The First District Court of Appeal relied on this clause in striking down the OSP, holding that it was unconstitutional for the state to pay for Florida's children to attend sectarian private schools.

Ballot Initiative No. 7 would make two changes in Article I, section 3. First, it would delete the existing "no aid" clause in its entirety. Second, the Ballot Initiative would add a new sentence to section 3, which would read as follows: "An individual or entity may not be barred from participating in any public program because of religion."

2. Ballot Initiative No. 9 consists of what initially were two proposals related to the education of Florida's children which the TBRC, on the final day of its 2007-2008 session, consolidated into a single proposal.

The first change made by Ballot Initiative No. 9 would undo this Court's decision in *Bush v. Holmes* striking down the OSP as contrary to Article IX, section 1(a), of the Florida Constitution. As currently written, that section provides in the pertinent part as follows:

(a) The education of children is a fundamental value of the people of the State of Florida. It is, therefore, a

paramount duty of the state to make adequate provision for the education of all children residing within its borders. Adequate provision shall be made by law for a uniform, efficient, safe, secure, and high quality system of free public schools that allows students to obtain a high quality education and for the establishment, maintenance, and operation of institutions of higher learning and other public education programs that the needs of the people may require. . . .

In *Bush v. Holmes*, this Court held that the OSP failed to pass muster because the state was seeking to fulfill its constitutional duty to provide an education for Florida's children in a manner other than through the "uniform . . . system of free public schools" prescribed by Article IX, section 1(a). 919 So. 2d at 406-07.

Ballot Initiative No. 9 would amend Article IX, section 1, so that the state's duty to provide an education for Florida's children could be fulfilled "at a minimum and not exclusively" through a system of free public schools. With the proposed amendment, section 1(a) would read as follows (with new language underscored and deleted language struck through):

(a) The education of children is a fundamental value of the people of the State of Florida. It is, therefore, a paramount duty of the state to make adequate provision for the education of all children residing within its borders. <u>This duty shall be fulfilled, at a minimum and not exclusively, through adequate</u> Adequate provision shall be made by law for a uniform, efficient, safe, secure, and high quality system of free public schools that allows students to obtain a high quality education and for the establishment, maintenance, and operation of institutions of higher learning and other public education programs that the needs of the people may require.

Nothing in this subsection creates an entitlement to a publicly-financed private program.

Ballot Initiative No. 9 would underscore the change in educational policy embodied in the revised section 1(a) by amending the title of Article IX, section 1. Now titled "Public Education," the Initiative would instead label the subject of this section as "Public Funding of Education."

The second change made by Ballot Initiative No. 9 would add a new section 8 to Article IX, which would require local school districts to spend at least 65% of the funds they receive (not only from the state, but from all sources) on "classroom instruction":

> SECTION 8. Requiring sixty-five percent of school funding for classroom instruction.— At least sixty-five percent of the school funding received by school districts shall be spent on classroom instruction, rather than on administration. Classroom instruction and administration shall be defined by law. The legislature may also address differences in administrative expenditures by district for necessary services, such as transportation and food services. Funds for capital outlay shall not be included in the calculation required by this section.

In approving Ballot Initiative No. 9, the TBRC also adopted and submitted to the Secretary of State the following ballot title and summary language, which would describe Ballot Initiative No. 9 on the November 2008 general election ballot: REQUIRING 65 PERCENT OF SCHOOL FUNDING FOR CLASSROOM INSTRUCTION; STATE'S DUTY FOR CHILDREN'S EDUCATION. – Requires at least 65 percent of school funding received by school districts be spent on classroom instruction, rather than administration; allows for differences in administrative expenditures by district. Provides the constitutional requirement for state to provide a "uniform, efficient, safe, secure, and high quality system of free public schools" is a minimum, nonexclusive duty. Reverses legal precedent prohibiting public funding of private school alternatives to public school programs without creating an entitlement.

B. On June 13, 2008, Plaintiffs filed a Complaint in the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial District for Leon County, seeking (1) a declaratory judgment that the TBRC exceeded its authority under Article XI, section 6, of the Florida Constitution by transmitting Ballot Initiatives Nos. 7 and 9 to the Secretary of State for placement on the ballot for the November 2008 general election; (2) a declaratory judgment that the ballot title and summary language accompanying Ballot Initiative No. 9 did not accurately inform voters of the true effect of the proposed amendment, in violation of Article XI, section 5, of the Florida Constitution and § 101.161, Fla. Stat.; and (3) an injunction barring the Secretary of State, and all persons and entities acting under his direction, from placing Ballot Initiatives Nos. 7 and 9 on the ballot for the November 2008 general election. On the same day, Plaintiffs also filed a motion for temporary injunction, which –

pursuant to an order entered by the Circuit Court on July 1, 2008 – was treated as a motion for Summary Final Judgment.

The court allowed intervention on behalf of Defendant Browning by two intervenor groups – a group of religious organizations led by the Florida Catholic Conference, and eight of the 25 members of the 2007-2008 TBRC.

Following briefing and oral argument, the Circuit Court (Hon. John C. Cooper) denied Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment and granted the crossmotions filed by Defendant and the Intervenors. *See* Summary Final Judgment for Defendant and Intervenors (Aug. 4, 2008) (attached hereto as Appendix Tab 1).

Plaintiffs promptly appealed the Circuit Court's ruling to the First District Court of Appeal and suggested certification to this Court pursuant to Article V, section 3(b)(5), of the Florida Constitution and Rule 9.125 of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. By order of August 13, 2008, the Court of Appeal certified that "the issues pending in this case are of great public importance requiring immediate resolution by the Supreme Court of Florida." On August 15, 2008, this Court entered an order accepting the appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The TBRC's authority to propose constitutional amendments for placement on the ballot is conferred – and limited – by Article XI, section 6(e), of the Florida Constitution. Unlike the plenary authority conferred under the other methods of

constitutional revision established by Article XI, the TBRC's authority under section 6(e) is limited to proposed amendments "dealing with taxation or the state budgetary process." The question presented in this case is whether the phrase "state budgetary process" encompasses the constitutional amendments proposed by the TBRC that appear in Ballot Initiatives Nos. 7 and 9. The answer to this question is "no."

The phrase "state budgetary process," on its face, refers to the structural and procedural aspects of developing and implementing the state budget. And, this plain-language understanding of the phrase is confirmed by standard dictionary definitions and by the way in which the same language is used elsewhere in the Florida Constitution and statutes.

Contrary to the position taken by the Circuit Court, the limited authority to propose constitutional amendments given to the TBRC by section 6(e) is wholly consistent with the broader authority given it by section 6(d) to engage in a variety of analytical and investigatory activities. These latter activities enable the TBRC to exercise its section 6(e) action authority in a responsible and informed manner, by providing the Commission with an understanding of the ramifications that a proposed amendment is likely to have at both the state and local levels.

Moreover, section 6(e) does not simply authorize the TBRC to propose constitutional amendments. The section also provides that the Commission "shall

issue a report of the results of the review carried out [pursuant to section 6(d)], and propose to the legislature any recommended statutory changes related to the taxation or budgetary laws of the state." The analytical and investigatory activities engaged in pursuant to section 6(d) could provide the basis for legislative changes, or the TBRC's report could lead to a proposed constitutional amendment by the legislature, the CRC, the people, or a constitutional convention, all of which – unlike the TBRC – have plenary authority to place on the ballot proposed constitutional amendments dealing with any subject whatever.

The reading of the Commission's section 6(e) authority as extending only to "process" issues of state budgeting (as well as to taxation) is reinforced by the constitutional history of the TBRC, which makes clear that the Commission was created in order to provide an opportunity for systematic, routine, and thoughtful consideration of revisions in Florida's tax structure and budget structure. And it finds further support in the Commission's adoption, shortly after its creation, of a rule that defined "state budgetary process" in a way that focuses on the structures and procedures by which a budget is developed and implemented, as well as by the TBRC's identification of sections of the Constitution that it believed came within its jurisdiction – sections that relate to the appropriations process, fiscal authorities, finance and taxation, municipal taxation, debts, and bonds. It is clear from this discussion that the TBRC does not have the authority to place the proposed constitutional amendments in Ballot Initiatives Nos. 7 and 9 on the ballot for the November 2008 general election. Ballot Initiative No. 7 would add to the religion clause of the Declaration of Rights a new provision regarding participation in public programs, which has nothing whatever to do with taxation or the state budgetary process. And, it would delete the "no-aid" clause that protects taxpayers' rights of conscience by prohibiting the use of public funds for religious purposes. The fact that this clause may involve a substantive limitation on state expenditures does not mean that it deals with the "state budgetary process."

The two proposed constitutional amendments in Ballot Initiative No. 9 are equally outside the TBRC's authority. The first would change the Constitution's instruction on how the state is to fulfill its mandate to provide for the education of Florida's children – a matter dealing with educational policy rather than with "taxation or the state budgetary process." The second proposed amendment would specify how local school districts are to expend their funds, by requiring that at least 65% of those funds be spent on "classroom instruction." Even if this amendment could be considered to deal with the budgetary processes of local school districts, it does not deal with the *state* budgetary process, as required by Article XI, section 6(e). Although none of the four proposed constitutional amendments in Ballot Initiatives Nos. 7 and 9 "deal[] with taxation or the state budgetary process," such an across-the-board showing is not required for Plaintiffs to prevail. A ballot initiative must stand or fall as a whole, and if Ballot Initiative No. 7 or Ballot Initiative No. 9 includes any provision that exceeded the TBRC's authority to propose, the Initiative fails in its entirety and cannot be saved by some other provision contained in the Initiative that would, standing alone, be within the Commission's authority to propose.

Ballot Initiative No. 9 is also defective because of the deceptive ballot title prepared by the TBRC. Apparently attempting to capitalize on the perceived popularity among voters of the 65% floor on classroom instruction spending, while concealing the more controversial amendment that would remove a constitutional barrier to public funding of private schools, the TBRC prepared a ballot title that describes the former ("REQUIRING 65 PERCENT OF SCHOOL FUNDING FOR CLASSROOM INSTRUCTION"), while merely identifying the general subject matter of the latter ("STATE'S DUTY FOR CHILDREN'S EDUCATION"). The misleading nature of this ballot title cannot be cured by the summary language that follows it – which many voters, judging themselves sufficiently informed by the (misleading) information given in the title, would doubtless never read.

ARGUMENT

For nearly 100 years, this Court has made it clear that any amendments to the Constitution must be placed before the voters in a manner that complies with the requirements set out in the Constitution itself. As the Court put it, "[t]he proposal of amendments to the Constitution is a highly important function of government that should be performed with the greatest certainty, efficiency, care, and deliberation." Crawford v. Gilchrist, 59 So. 963, 968 (Fla. 1912); see also Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7, 12 n.15 (Fla. 2000) (quoting Gilchrist); Floridians Against Expanded Gambling v. Floridians for a Level Playing Field, 945 So. 2d 553, 558 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006) (same). Therefore, this Court has explained, the people of Florida have both a "right to amend their Constitution, and ... a right to require proposed amendments to be agreed to and submitted for adoption in the manner prescribed by the existing Constitution, which is the fundamental law." Gilchrist, 59 So. at 967 (emphasis added). And, "[i]f essential mandatory provisions of the organic law are ignored in amending the Constitution of the state . . . it violates the right of all the people of the state to government regulated by law." Id. at 967-68. It is this "fundamental" principle of law that governs the question before this Court.

The Circuit Court's holding that the TBRC acted within the scope of its authority in proposing Ballot Initiatives Nos. 7 and 9, and its ruling upholding the

ballot title and summary language for the latter, is reviewed *de novo*, without deference to the decision below. *See Zingale v. Powell*, 885 So. 2d 277, 280 (Fla. 2004) ("[C]onstitutional interpretation ... is performed *de novo*."); *D'Angelo v. Fitzmaurice*, 863 So. 2d 311, 314 (Fla. 2003) (stating that in a *de novo* review, "no deference is given to the judgment of the lower courts").

Petitioners recognize that this Court must act with "care, caution, and restraint" before preventing the people from voting on a proposed constitutional amendment. Advisory Op. to Att'y Gen. re Fla. Marriage Prot. Amendment, 926 So. 2d 1229, 1233 (Fla. 2006). But this "care, caution, and restraint" do not diminish the fundamental right of the people of Florida to ensure that the Constitution is only amended in a manner that comports with the existing requirements of the Constitution, e.g., Gilchrist, 59 So. at 967, and that the ballot title and summary language are sufficient to meet constitutional requirements. Advisory Op. to Att'y Gen. re Restricts Laws Related to Discrimination, 632 So. 2d 1018, 1021 (Fla. 1994) ("Although we are wary of interfering with the public's right to vote on an initiative proposal, ... we are equally cautious of approving the validity of a ballot summary that is not clearly understandable."); see also Smith v. American Airlines, 606 So. 2d 618, 621-22 (Fla. 1992) (striking a TBRC-proposed constitutional amendment from the general election ballot, while "cognizant" that

such a ruling "prevents the people of Florida from even having the chance to vote on the merits of the proposal").

We add one further prefatory point. It should go without saying that this case is not about the merits of either Ballot Initiative, and the substantive questions of church/state separation and educational policy that are addressed by the Ballot Initiatives themselves are not now before this Court. See Advisory Op. to Att'y Gen. re People's Prop. Rights Amendments Providing Compensation for Restricting Real Prop. Use May Cover Multiple Subjects, 699 So. 2d 1304, 1306 (Fla. 1997) ("[T]his Court does not rule on the merits or wisdom of the proposal but rather determines the legal issues presented by the constitution and relevant statutes."). The issues presented by this appeal involve the meaning of Article XI, section 6(e), of the Florida Constitution, as well as the requirements of § 101.161, Fla. Stat. As we now show, proper interpretation of these provisions requires this Court to reverse the Circuit Court's decision and to enjoin the placement of the two challenged Ballot Initiatives on the ballot for the November 2008 general election.

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