#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC08-1529

Certified Question of Great Public Importance

ANDY FORD, et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

KURT BROWNING, et al.,

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF OF
INTERVENORS/RESPONDENTS,
FLORIDA CATHOLIC CONFERENCE, INC.;
MERCY HOSPITAL, INC.; FRIENDS OF
LUBAVITCH OF FLORIDA, INC.; CATHOLIC
CHARITIES OF THE ARCHDIOCESE OF MIAMI,
INC.; and ASSOCIATION OF CHRISTIAN
SCHOOLS INTERNATIONAL

### **HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP**

Nathan A. Adams, IV Florida Bar No. 0090492 Stephen H. Grimes Florida Bar No. 32005 P.O. Drawer 810 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (850) 224-7000

 $Counsel\ for\ Intervenors/Respondents$ 

###

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Florida Taxation and Budget Reform Commission ("TBRC") is empowered to approve ballot initiatives pertaining to "taxation" and the "state budgetary process." The last sentence of article I, section 3 and article IX, section 1(a) of the Florida Constitution, as recently interpreted by the First District Court of Appeal and this Court, are primarily about state funding and expenditures and, thus, the state budgetary process. In the words of the First District, "the drafters of the no-aid provision clearly intended at least to prohibit the direct or indirect use of public monies to fund education at religious schools." *Bush v. Holmes*, 886 So. 2d 340, 351 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004), *aff'd on other grounds*, 919 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 2006). Likewise, this Court held that article IX, section 1(a) precludes public or taxpayer funding of private education. *Bush v. Holmes*, 919 So. 2d 392, 407-08 (Fla. 2006) (applying the principle of construction "expressio unius est exclusio alterius").

Article I, section 3 also pertains to taxation and not merely in the education context as the Florida Supreme Court held in *Johnson v. Presbyterian Homes*, 239 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 1970) and *Nohrr v. Brevard County Educ. Facilities Auth.*, 247 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 1971). In these cases, this Court held tax exemptions for a religious retirement home and tax-exempt bond financing constitutional under

article I, section 3. By addressing expenditures, article I, section 3 and article IX, section 1 also naturally pertain to taxation and revenue, because an expenditure naturally requires a tax or revenue to pay for it.

The lower court held that both resolutions were within the jurisdiction of the TBRC. It found that article I, section 6 provides the TBRC with "broad authority to review any matters involving taxation or the state budgetary process." (R-IV 680). The court concluded that the "scope of the TBRC's authority to propose statutory and constitutional changes in section 6(e) must logically flow from and relate to the scope of authority in section 6(d)." *Id.* Furthermore, the court gave "state budgetary process" its natural meaning, rather than the Petitioners' interpretation at odds with ordinary English usage.

The lower court found that a "budget" includes "expenses and income for a given period" or, in other words, expenditures and revenue. (R-IV 681). The lower court held that a "process" involves a sequential ordering of steps or "series of actions ... that bring about an end result." *Id.* Petitioners take issue with this natural reading of the words. They recognize only one-half of a balanced budget and erroneously equate "process" with "procedure" and, as if it clarified the matter, "structure." (IB, at 8-9, 19, 20, 24-25, 28) Veering further from the vernacular, they say a "substantive constitutional limitation on the purposes for which public funds may be expended (such as the 'no aid' clause of Article I, section 3)" is not the same as "a structural or procedural" limitation; whereas, if a "structural" restraint

means anything different from a procedural limitation, it should be exactly this. (IB, at 24) Most remarkably, Petitioners contend that the word "budgetary" excludes expenditures altogether (IB, at 20), so that in the end, they propose that "budgetary process" means little more than "revenue procedure." To the contrary, the lower court found that "[i]n the context of state governmental operations, the concept of a 'budgetary process' must necessarily take into account how the state raises revenue, how much revenue is raised, how state monies are spent, the relationship between revenues and expenditures, and ways to help the state become fiscally sound while meeting the needs of its people." (R-IV 681)

Concerning the word "state" in "state budgetary process," the lower court recognized that educational funding even at the local level is controlled by state law. That "funds are distributed to local school districts does not transform this proposed amendment to an exclusively local budget issue." (R-IV 683). Furthermore, section 6(d) grants the TBRC license to consider taxation and spending at the state and local level. *Id.* But Petitioners ask this Court to drive a wedge between article XI, section 6(d) and 6(e), to prohibit the TBRC from proposing constitutional reforms bearing upon public expenditures even if they constitute the lion's share of the budget. Educational expenditures are among the largest in the budget. If ever a constitutional reform measure is proposed to authorize a state income tax, it will be due in large measure to educational

expenditures. This is why expenditures and taxation are opposite sides of the same coin or, more accurately, budget.

The lower court's decision contrary to Petitioners' poor semantics and tortuous interpretation of article XI, section 6 should be affirmed both with respect to the jurisdiction of the TBRC to propose Ballot Initiatives 7 and 9 and the validity of the ballot title and summary. Especially in light of the deferential standard of review for constitutional initiatives proposed by a constitutional body, the remedy sought by the Petitioners, thwarting the ability of the electorate to approve a resolution at odds with this Court's prior decision, should be denied.

### **ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES**

**Standard of Review.** Judicial review of a proposed constitutional amendment is deferential. *Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. re: Fla. Marriage Protection Amendment*, 926 So. 2d 1229, 1233 (Fla. 2006). In this respect, the standard of review discussed by the other Respondents is hereby adopted. Put simply, with respect to legislatively submitted amendments, "if there is any reasonable theory under which it can be done," they must be submitted to the voters. *Armstrong v. Harris*, 773 So. 2d 7, 14 (Fla. 2000), *cert. denied*, 532 U.S. 958 (2001) (*quoting Gray v. Golden*, 89 So. 2d 785, 790 (Fla. 1956)).

# I. <u>HISTORY REVEALS THAT ARTICLE I, SECTION 3 AND ARTICLE IX, SECTION I AND THEIR PROPOSED AMENDMENTS</u> ESSENTIALLY PERTAIN TO PUBLIC EXPENDITURES.

In order to understand the impetus for Ballot Initiatives 7 and 9, it is necessary to review this Court's decision in *Bush v. Holmes*, 919 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 2006). In that case, the First District Court of Appeal struck down the Opportunity Scholarship Program ("OSP") as a violation of the last sentence of article I, section 3 of the Florida Constitution, otherwise known as the Blaine amendment. *Bush v. Holmes*, 886 So. 2d 340, 351 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004), *aff'd on other grounds*, 919 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 2006) [hereinafter *Holmes I*].

On appeal, this Court affirmed the decision, but on different grounds without approving or disapproving the rationale of the First District Court of Appeal. *Bush v. Holmes*, 919 So. 2d 392, 413 (Fla. 2006) [hereinafter *Holmes II*]. The Court held that OSP violated article IX, section 1 of the Florida Constitution, which requires the state to make adequate provision by law for a uniform, efficient, safe, secure, and high quality system of free public schools. The amendments proposed by the TBRC are a reaction to these decisions and would obviate the rationale of *Holmes I* and the restriction on the adequacy mandate recognized in *Holmes II*.

It is important to consider the history of these two provisions of our Constitution. As the First District stated in *Holmes I*, "history tells us a great deal about the origins and intent" of article I, section 3 "which can assist us in its interpretation." 886 So. 2d at 348. This court has also relied on history to interpret

article IX, section 1. *Holmes II*, 919 So. 2d at 406-07. Petitioners would now distort this history. Whereas in *Holmes II*, Petitioners argued that article I, section 3 and article IX, section 1 were essentially about public school expenditures,<sup>3</sup> now they argue that article I, section 3 essentially concerns separation of church and state, religious liberty, and freedom of conscience (IB, at 1, 3, 36), and that article IX primarily deals with education. (IB, at 2-3) Their original position is most in accord with the historical record. The only question which remains is whether the TBRC had the authority to propose constitutional reforms concerning public expenditures of the largest kind. Respondents believe it did.

### A. History Indicates that Article I, Section 3 and Ballot Initiative 7 Pertain to Public Expenditures.

In 1875, Representative James G. Blaine proposed to the United States House of Representatives in pertinent part the following amendment to the United States Constitution: "[N]o money raised by taxation in any State for the support of public schools, or derived from any public fund therefor, nor any public lands devoted thereto, shall ever be under the control of any religious sect; nor shall any money so raised or lands so devoted be divided between religious sects or denominations." *Holmes I*, 886 So. 2d at 349 n.7.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>R-II 387 (*Bush v. Holmes*, Case Nos. SC04-2323/SC04-2324/SC04-2325, Answer Brief, at 17 ("[T]he language and history of Article I, § 3 compel the conclusion that, as both courts below held, this provision was intended to prohibit ... the use of public funds to pay for Florida children to receive a religious education in sectarian schools.").

The amendment passed the House, 180 to 7, but fell 4 votes shy in the Senate. All the same, supporters eventually persuaded at least 30 states, including Florida, to adopt similar language. *Holmes I*, 886 So. 2d at 349 n.8. Although not always amendments in the strict sense,<sup>4</sup> they have become known as "Blaine amendments," in that they ban the use of public funds to support sectarian public schools. The United States Supreme Court recognized this defining feature of Blaine amendments as follows: "to make certain that government would not help pay for 'sectarian' (i.e., Catholic) schooling for children." *Zelman v. Simmons-Harris*, 536 U.S. 639, 721 (2002) (Breyer, Stevens, Souter, JJ., dissenting). *Accord Mitchell v. Helms*, 530 U.S. 793, 828 (2000) (plurality opinion of Thomas, J., joined by Rehnquist, C.J., and Scalia and Kennedy, JJ).

Blaine amendments were a reaction by the so-called Know Nothing or nativist movement to immigration from predominately Catholic Southern Europe. As the number of Catholic immigrants in the United States increased, they "began to resist Protestant domination of the public schools." *Id.* at 720. "Catholics sought equal government support for the education of their children in the form of aid for private Catholic schools. But the 'Protestant position' on this matter, scholars report, 'was that public schools must be 'nonsectarian'...." *Id.* at 721.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Many states incorporated Blaine amendments in constitutions drafted by newly formed states or states readmitted to the Union; therefore, they were not technically always amendments.

This is not to say that nativists wanted the public schools to be secular. Far from it, they favored the so-called "common religion" taught in the public (or common) schools of the time. As described in Vidal v. Girard's Ex'rs, 43 U.S. 127, 153 (1844) and by Horace Mann himself,<sup>5</sup> the common religion was a form of nondenominational Protestantism. For example, in Florida, until the early-1960's, public school students were statutorily required to observe it through daily recitation of the Lord's Prayer, readings from the King James Bible, and singing religious hymns. See Chamberlin v. Dade County Bd. of Pub. Instruction, 143 So. 2d 21, 23, 35 (Fla. 1962) (statute requiring these and baccalaureate programs constitutional), rev'd, 377 U.S. 402 (1964) (referencing § 231.09, Fla. Stat. The Blaine movement was not, therefore, separationist or primarily (1961)). interested in promoting religious liberty and freedom of conscience; it favored a Protestant establishment in the public schools and disfavored equal treatment of minority religious groups.

The Florida Constitution of 1885 enacted Florida's Blaine amendment as article I, section 6. It states in pertinent part: "[N]o money shall ever be taken from the public treasury directly or indirectly in aid of any church, sect or religious denomination or in aid of any sectarian institution." Similar language was adopted

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Horace Mann, Life and Works: Annual Reports of the Secretary of the Board of Education of Massachusetts for the Years 1845-1848, at 292 (1891).

as article I, section 3 of the Florida Constitution of 1968: "No revenue of the state or any political subdivision or agency thereof shall ever be taken from the public treasury directly or indirectly in aid of any church, sect, or religious denomination or in aid of any sectarian institution."

The First District's conclusion concerning article I, section 3 echoes the U.S. Supreme Court's and the comments of Petitioners' counsel in the same case as follows: "the drafters of the no-aid provision clearly intended at least to prohibit the direct or indirect use of public monies to fund education at religious schools." *Holmes I*, 886 So. 2d at 351. Left in doubt by the court was whether article I, section 3 also precludes neutral public funding of other critical social services provided by religious institutions to the neediest among us, including the types of services offered by the Intervenors, such as eldercare, healthcare, education, and indigent care. Because the question did not present itself squarely in *Holmes*, the majority left it for another day. *Id.* at 362.

The concurrence argued that whether including religious institutions in these programs is constitutional should depend upon "the purpose of the program, the extent of public funding, whether the level of funding substantially exceeds the cost of the public benefit, or the means by which the public dollars reach the sectarian institution," *see id.* at 371 (Allen, Davis, Padovano, and Browning, JJ., concurring, and Wolf, C.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part), whereas the dissent argued:

The majority's caution that the holding 'should not in any way be read as a comment on the constitutionality of any other government program or activity which involves a religious or sectarian institution,' is only to ignore the problem. Why wouldn't the holding be applied to other programs? There is no meaningful difference.

Holmes I, 886 So. 2d at 378 (Polston, Barfield, Kahn, Lewis, Hawkes, JJ., dissenting).

Until Holmes I, no reported decision in Florida held that article I, section 3 required excluding religious institutions altogether from the state budgetary process. To the contrary, repeated cases held that, as long as a public benefit flowed to the religious institution incidentally as a result of a neutral program of general eligibility, there was not a violation of the Constitution. Koerner v. Borck, 100 So. 2d 398, 401-02 (Fla. 1958) ("any improvement to county-owned land" over which the church had an easement "will be made for the benefit of the people of the county and not for the church"); Southside Estates Baptist Church v. Bd. of Trs., 115 So. 2d 697 (Fla. 1959) ("We ourselves have heretofore taken the position that an incidental benefit to a religious group, resulting from an appropriate use of public property, is not violative of [the precursor to Article I, section 3]."); Johnson v. Presbyterian Homes of the Synod of Fla., Inc., 239 So. 2d 256, 261-62 (Fla. 1970) (statute exempting properties used as licensed homes for the elderly, including religious homes, was consistent with Blaine amendment); Nohrr v. Brevard County Educ. Facilities Auth., 247 So. 2d 304, 307 (Fla. 1971) ("A state cannot pass a law to aid one religion or all religions, but state action to promote the

general welfare of society, apart from any religious considerations, is valid, even though religious interests may be indirectly benefited."); *Rice v. State*, 754 So. 2d 881 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000), *rev. denied*, 779 So. 2d 272 (Fla. 2000) ("expenditure of public money to enforce" a criminal statute enhancing penalties for controlled substance crimes near a place of worship "is too remote to aid any sectarian purpose."); *accord* 72-246 Fla. Op. Att'y Gen. 421, 421 (1972); 77-55 Fla. Op. Att'y Gen. 117, 119 (1977).

Holmes I was singular in this respect and framed the debate for the TBRC's consideration of Ballot Initiative 7. As proposed by the TBRC for consideration by the Florida electorate, Ballot Initiative 7 strikes the last sentence. Then, to remove any ambiguity about the effect,<sup>6</sup> it replaces the sentence with the opposite statement as follows:

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